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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I apologize for

          3  our getting a late start, but I am sure you know, if

          4  you were here on time, there was a meeting in here

          5  prior to us.

          6                 Anyway, this says good morning,

          7  obviously it is good afternoon. I am Kathryn Freed,

          8  the Chairperson of the Contracts Committee. I would

          9  like to begin by recognizing my colleagues who are

         10  present here today. To my left, Council Member

         11  White, Council Member Boyland, Council Member Fiala,

         12  Council Member Perkins, myself and Council Member

         13  Espada.

         14                 Okay, today the Committee is

         15  conducting an oversight hearing regarding the small

         16  purchase payment rule and contract splitting section

         17  3-08 of the Procurement Policy Board, which defines

         18  small purchases as those procurements in value of

         19  not more than $25,000 for goods and services, not

         20  more than $50,000 for construction, and

         21  construction-related services, not more than $10,000

         22  for information technology.

         23                 The purpose of the City's small

         24  purchase rule is to enable procurements that fall

         25  within the small purchase limit to be achieved at a
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          2  faster rate than under the rules for competitive

          3  sealed bids and competitive sealed proposals.

          4                 The rule has served several

          5  beneficial elements in the contracting process, in

          6  particular allowing agencies to process more

          7  purchases in significantly less time.

          8                 The utilization of the small purchase

          9  rule allows for fewer requirements than in the open

         10  competition process.

         11                 Unlike the rules for competitive

         12  sealed bids and competitive sealed proposal, the

         13  rule allows an agency to seek bids from no more than

         14  five vendors for any one procurement without having

         15  to publicly advertise solicitations for goods,

         16  services or construction needs.

         17                 Within the past year, a series of

         18  audits prepared by the City Comptroller assess

         19  different agency performances in relation to small

         20  purchase requirements and in particular contract

         21  splitting.

         22                 While some audits demonstrated that

         23  certain agencies were not engaged in contract

         24  splitting, the majority of audits establish clear

         25  evidence of some degree of contract splitting. The
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          2  various audits first examined the total amount of

          3  money spent by an agency on small procurements,

          4  i.e., contracts, purchase orders, vouchers, and then

          5  how many small purchase contracts were attributed to

          6  that amount.

          7                 Secondly, a number of small purchase

          8  contracts were then randomly selected for the

          9  purpose of being reviewed to see if whether, among

         10  other items, the agency was involved in contract

         11  splitting in order to possibly circumvent the

         12  requirements of Section 3-08.

         13                 The random selection of agency

         14  contracts gives important insight in detailing the

         15  various problems that exist, but also demonstrate

         16  that the problem may be in fact more severe than the

         17  audits report. Specifically, because each audit was

         18  limited to only a fraction of the total small

         19  purchase contracts for a given agency's fiscal year.

         20                 Currently the PPB has proposed new

         21  rules to amend 3-08, to raise the small purchase

         22  limits.

         23                 The proposed rule would create a

         24  blanket small purchase limit, for all contracts of

         25  procurement to $100,000. In accordance with the City
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          2  Charter this proposed amendment could not be

          3  consumated without the approval of the City Council.

          4                 However, the 1999 Charter Revision

          5  Commission has also proposed that the small purchase

          6  limits be changed to $100,000 for all categories of

          7  procurement.

          8                 This proposal which was unanimously

          9  adopted by the Commission on September 1st, 1999,

         10  was subject to a referendum and put before the

         11  voters in the upcoming November election.

         12                 In light of the recent audits

         13  prepared by the Comptroller in relation to agency

         14  compliance with the small purchase limits, the

         15  prospect of the limits will be doubled and even

         16  quadrupled raises serious concerns.

         17                 The purpose of this hearing is to

         18  discuss how best to remedy and enforce the current

         19  requirements of Section 3-08, and what steps will be

         20  taken to ensure that contract splitting is not

         21  taking place if the small purchase limits are so

         22  drastically increased.

         23                 This Committee has invited

         24  representatives from the Mayor's Office of

         25  Contracts, PPB, the Comptroller, the Department of
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          2  Parks and Recreation, the Fire Department, the

          3  Department of Transportation, the Department of

          4  Health and the Department of Sanitation to testify

          5  this afternoon.

          6                 So, before we hear testimony, let me

          7  remind you that it is the practice of this Committee

          8  to swear in all witnesses, and our first witness

          9  will be from the Comptroller's Office, which will be

         10  Roger Liwer, the Deputy Comptroller.

         11                 Before you start, let me just remind

         12  you that it is the practice of this Committee to

         13  swear in all witnesses.

         14                 Okay, gentlemen, if you could just

         15  raise your right hands.

         16                 Do you swear to tell the truth, the

         17  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         18                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I do.

         19                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I do.

         20                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I do.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Before you start

         22  testifying, just state your name for the record and

         23  your position, and then proceed.

         24                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Good

         25  afternoon. My name is Roger Liwer, I am the Deputy

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  Comptroller for Audit and Engineering. With me to my

          3  left is the Comptroller's Deputy General Counsel and

          4  PPB representative Alan Lebowitz. With me to my

          5  right is Larry Baum, who is the Audit Manager in

          6  charge of most of our small procurement audits.

          7                 Thank you, Chairwoman Freed and

          8  members of the City Council Committee on contracts,

          9  for giving us the opportunity to testify on behalf

         10  of Comptroller Hevesi concerning small purchase

         11  practices in City agencies.

         12                 In order to fairly and competitively

         13  distribute City contracts, several initiatives were

         14  instituted to make sure the taxpayer dollars are

         15  used wisely.

         16                 The rules governing an agency's

         17  handling of its procurements are found in the City

         18  PPB rules and the Comptroller's directives. Section

         19  3-08 of the PPB rules deals with small purchases.

         20  While Comptrollers Directive 624 and 25 addresses

         21  miscellaneous agency expenses, internal controls

         22  over spending and the use of miscellaneous vouchers

         23  respectively.

         24                 In summary, the PPB rules state that

         25  that to be considered a small procurement to a
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          2  purchase, the amount of the contract cannot exceed

          3  $25,000 for goods and services, $50,000 for

          4  construction and construction-related services, and

          5  $100,000 for information technology.

          6                 To determine whether City agencies

          7  are complying with the small purchase contract rules

          8  and directives, the Comptroller's Office completed

          9  audits of the small purchase practices of ten City

         10  agencies in Fiscal Years '98 and '99. These audits

         11  include Sanitation, Parks, Transportation, Fire,

         12  Finance, Probation, Health, Homeless Services,

         13  Buildings and Consumer Affairs.

         14                 To ascertain whether these agencies

         15  were in compliance with PPB rules and Comptroller's

         16  directives, we reviewed the rules that determine the

         17  procedure that each agency has to follow. We also

         18  interviewed personnel responsible for each phase of

         19  the procurement and vouchering process to obtain an

         20  understanding of their small procurement operation.

         21                 Using this information our auditors

         22  conducted a walk-through of each agency and prepared

         23  a narrative of the small procurement operations,

         24  enabling us to identify the controls in place, as

         25  well as the flow of documents.
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          2                 The audit reports identify numerous

          3  problems with small purchase operations at these

          4  agencies. Problems including missing bid documents

          5  at the Department of Parks, undocumented awards to

          6  other than the low bidder at Finance, DOT and Parks,

          7  and inadequate documentation of sole responsive bids

          8  at DOT and Finance.

          9                 The most troubling problem identified

         10  by the audits is the splitting of contracts to keep

         11  their value under the small purchase limits. With

         12  the exception of Consumer Affairs, Probation and

         13  Buildings Department, our audits found that the

         14  problem of splitting contracts was repeated among

         15  the other agencies we audited. By artificially

         16  splitting contracts, agencies are able to avoid the

         17  full competitive bidding process, otherwise required

         18  by PPB rules.

         19                 For example, Parks and Recreation had

         20  12 contracts totalling 277,000 which were reissued

         21  within a two-day period to the same contractor for

         22  ballfield clay.

         23                 DPR's contract files did not contain

         24  bids for all 12 purchases.

         25                 In addition, DPR issued eight
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          2  contracts totalling $377,180 on the same day to one

          3  contractor for plumbing and mechanical services, and

          4  then issued another five small purchase contracts

          5  totalling $150,640 on the same day to one contractor

          6  for paving services.

          7                 In DPR's response to the auditor's

          8  findings and at the May 13th Board meeting, it was

          9  suggested that DPR splits those contracts on a

         10  geographical basis and that this practice is

         11  acceptable.

         12                 We understand that there may be

         13  limited circumstances, such as for client service

         14  contracts, where it may be appropriate to issue

         15  separate contracts based on geographic

         16  considerations. With respect to the procurement of

         17  clay for ballfields, however, we do not believe the

         18  geographic considerations are relevant.

         19                 In any event, even if an agency

         20  believes that it is appropriate to split a contract

         21  for geographic reasons, opinions from the New York

         22  State Comptroller's Office interpreting state law

         23  state that when an agency can reasonably anticipate

         24  that the aggregate amount to be expended on

         25  contracts where the same or similar goods are
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          2  serviced during the school year exceeds the small

          3  purchase limits, a full competitive process is

          4  required for each of those component contracts,

          5  including the requirement for public advertising.

          6                 We note that with respect to the Clay

          7  contracts the price decreased from $33 to $31.35 per

          8  cubic yard, when the clay was subsequently procured

          9  through a DCAS contract at a savings to the City of

         10  about 15,000.

         11                 The Fire Department is also among

         12  those agencies that engaged in contract splitting.

         13  The Fire Department issued ten small purchase

         14  contracts, each for $25,000, and totalling $250,000

         15  within a nine-month period prior to one contract for

         16  autobody repair work and with several issued on the

         17  same day or within a few days of each other.

         18                 In addition, the following small

         19  purchase contracts were all issued by the Fire

         20  Department to the same contractor within an

         21  eight-month period. Nine small purchase contracts

         22  totalling over 217,000 for cervical collars, with

         23  seven of the nine in the exact same dollar amount of

         24  $24,384. Six purchase contracts totalling about

         25  139,000 for head-beds, four small purchase contracts
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          2  totalling over 99,000 for defibrillation pads, and

          3  three small purchase contracts totally over $38,000

          4  for resuscitation equipment.

          5                 In recognition of the need for

          6  efficiency in agency procurement, our office has

          7  voted in favor of an amendment to the PPB rules that

          8  would allow for moderate increase of procurements

          9  under the small purchase rule for services and

         10  construction. Specifically an amount increasing the

         11  limit from $25,000 to $50,000 for services, and from

         12  $50,000 to $100,000 for construction. That PPB

         13  action is currently before the Council.

         14                 However, at this time our office is

         15  not prepared to support any further increase until

         16  out audits show that agencies are complying with

         17  small purchase requirements.

         18                 As always, we are available to help

         19  you in any way we can.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, thank you.

         21                 When using small purchase

         22  procurement, what is the Comptroller's role in that?

         23  How does your role change between small purchase

         24  limits and normal competitive sealed bid process? In

         25  relationship to oversight. I mean, do you actually
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          2  see the small purchase limits, the small purchase

          3  contracts?

          4                 MR. BAUM: (Speaker not identified.) I

          5  don't believe that we actually see contracts with

          6  respect to our registration duties that are under

          7  the small purchase limits.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: For instance,

          9  normally if it is a regular sealed bid process, you

         10  would certify it, is that accurate?

         11                 MR. BAUM: Contracts that are over the

         12  small purchase limits are submitted to our office

         13  for registration and we conduct certain reviews in

         14  the context of registration with respect to those

         15  contracts.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, so

         17  essentially if a contract comes in as a small

         18  purchase contract, it never reaches your radar

         19  screen.

         20                 MR. BAUM: It might get entered into

         21  what was a system called ISIS, for those contracts

         22  that are above $10,000. But those contracts do not

         23  get submitted to our office for registration, that

         24  are under the small purchase limits.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right, so
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          2  essentially the Comptroller's Office has no role

          3  normally in a small purchase contract?

          4                 MR. BAUM: I guess the answer to that

          5  is we don't receive contracts in our registration,

          6  with respect to our registration duties to review.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Is that a yes?

          8                 MR. BAUM: I think that is a yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. I was going

         10  to ask, what, if any, oversight currently exists in

         11  relation to small purchase payments to ensure that

         12  the procedures are being properly followed?

         13                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Well, the

         14  oversight is the post audit function.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And how often do

         16  you do a post audit function?

         17                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I beg your

         18  pardon?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: How often do you

         20  conduct these audits?

         21                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I guess two

         22  years ago was really the first time we concentrated

         23  in those areas, and we have done ten since then. We

         24  are now doing about three or four a year, including

         25  the beginning, we are starting to do follow-up
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          2  audits of the worst agencies we found in the initial

          3  batch.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. And again,

          5  basically that is a random selection, so you don't

          6  oversee every small purchase contract.

          7                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: You mean a

          8  random selection within an agency?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I beg your pardon?

         10                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Within the

         11  agency, or random selection of agencies?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, within the

         13  agency.

         14                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: No, I have

         15  to actually, you said something before and I have to

         16  apologize because the audits may have been a little

         17  bit misleading or vague on the sampling method.

         18                 The audits in fact cover all of the

         19  small procurements in each agency that we go to.

         20  What we do is we get a run of all of the small

         21  procurements, and then we identify those that have,

         22  and I am talking about small procurements over

         23  10,000, we identify those that have vendor names

         24  that match, and then we look at those that totalled

         25  more than 25,000 and then we look at those that are
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          2  in close proximity to each other, say within a few

          3  months, and finally we look at whether the goods are

          4  the same. So we cover the entire new universe of

          5  small procurements over 10,000 in an agency when we

          6  do this.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, I guess then

          8  the question was, maybe I misunderstood, because if

          9  there is a selected random number of small purchase

         10  contracts in different agencies to look at, and I am

         11  wondering if your feeling is that there are

         12  additional contract splitting or if it is more

         13  severe than the audits suggest.

         14                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: No, not for

         15  the year that we would have looked at, since we

         16  would have covered everything.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, so that is

         18  wrong.

         19                 The language -- well, actually I

         20  should ask if anyone else has any questions before I

         21  go on.

         22                 Council Member Fiala.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

         24  Madam Chair.

         25                 Mr. Deputy Comptroller, I followed
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          2  your testimony. These audits, you say there were

          3  numerous problems, including missing documents in

          4  agencies, that seems to me to be an administrative

          5  issue with the agency and if that is the case,

          6  oversight of that agency, there should be

          7  discipline, right, with the ACCO? I don't think that

          8  that necessarily in and of itself says that raising

          9  the limit is a bad thing, it just says that there

         10  are some who might not be doing their job as

         11  efficiently as they are; is that accurate?

         12                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Yes and no.

         13  From an auditor's perspective, from a management or

         14  legislative perspective that may be correct. From an

         15  auditor's perspective, we view the lack of documents

         16  as a weakening of internal controls.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Okay, I will

         18  accept that.

         19                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: And that

         20  falls in the general rubric of our concern.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: I will accept

         22  that. As the Chief Fiscal watchdog for the City, you

         23  guys have to look at auditing a little bit more

         24  intensive than we do I guess.

         25                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: You have to
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          2  look at the problems together. In other words if a

          3  contract is split and documents are missing and

          4  signatures are not where they are supposed to be, we

          5  tend to see that as a --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: I don't

          7  disagree with you.

          8                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Yes, I see

          9  them all through context.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: I am trying to

         11  make a determination as to whether or not limits

         12  should be raised.

         13                 Let me go in. In your testimony, with

         14  respect to one of the audits, and correct me if I am

         15  wrong, I read it twice, we note that with respect to

         16  the clay contracts, the price decreased from $33 to

         17  $31.35 per cubic yard. Subsequently the contract

         18  total saving was $15,000. Am I correct in

         19  interpreting that the City actually saved money as a

         20  result of the action?

         21                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Would have

         22  saved, for the same purchase at the new bid would

         23  have saved.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Okay, that is

         25  what I want a clarification on.
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          2                 And finally, in your conclusion, you

          3  note that the office voted in favor of PPB rules

          4  raising the limits. Now, you are part of the Board,

          5  right? Am I correct in interpreting that? That you

          6  support increasing services to $50,000 and

          7  construction to $100,000?

          8                 MR. BAUM: (Speaker not identified).

          9  That would be correct, but there is an additional

         10  proposed increase raising everything to a blanket

         11  $100,000.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: That is the

         13  Charter proposal?

         14                 MR. BAUM: No, that is actually also a

         15  proposal, you know, a PPB rule proposal.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: With respect to

         17  Reso 58, though, because I have now been in here for

         18  almost two years, and I think we have had two

         19  hearings on this, and we seem to go nowhere in this

         20  City, this would be -- if we did these increases it

         21  would be the second time the City has increased a

         22  small purchase limit; is that correct?

         23                 MR. BAUM: I believe that is accurate.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Would you say

         25  that $100,000 at this time based on your audit is
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          2  not warranted but the original proposal of reso 58

          3  is?

          4                 I mean, I am reading your testimony

          5  and since you were in favor of it --

          6                 MR. BAUM: We voted in favor at the

          7  PPB to raise the small purchase limits with respect

          8  to services from 25,000 to 50,000 and with respect

          9  to construction and construction-related services

         10  from 50,000 to 100,000.

         11                 We would be supportive of that

         12  increase with respect to agency efficiency issues

         13  but what we would not be supportive of is a further

         14  increase of $100,000 for both goods and services.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Okay. So, the

         16  Reso 58 would take us more incrementally toward

         17  improving --

         18                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I believe

         19  Reso 58 is the reso that mirrors the PPB Board vote

         20  in 1997 which authorized the increase to 50,000 for

         21  services and 100,000 for construction.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: Thank you,

         23  Madam Chair.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, let me ask a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            22

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  question. The one thing I am a little confused

          3  about, and that if you are still supportive of Reso

          4  58, one of the things I was concerned about in

          5  looking at these, because a number of these

          6  contracts, say for instance with Fire or Parks, they

          7  are a number of same day contracts or they clearly

          8  divided at 25,000 and yet the amount went

          9  substantially over 100,000.

         10                 So, if they were going to contract

         11  split at 25 and go to say a quarter of a million,

         12  are you worried without any kind of additional

         13  limits that if they are going to contract split

         14  there that they won't continue to contract split

         15  instead of looking at a quarter of a million, you

         16  won't be looking at a half of a million or a million

         17  dollars worth of split contracts?

         18                 And what would you propose, what kind

         19  of oversight might you propose to that to avoid that

         20  situation?

         21                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Well, I

         22  will answer your second question first. On the

         23  oversight, I think we do have oversight, we have the

         24  rules that are in effect, we have the auditing

         25  function which goes out there in monitors and is
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          2  doing more of it, and we have committees such as

          3  yours that are involved in these approvals. The

          4  inducement of course, to make them behave and to

          5  prevent them from violating the rules the way they

          6  have is to hold back these raises until they show

          7  they are performing properly.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Of course we have

          9  the charter pending right now.

         10                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right. See,

         12  what I don't understand on this is you are talking

         13  about hold back this until -- I mean, that was our

         14  concern and the City Council that we felt that there

         15  was contract splitting going on before we approved

         16  an additional increase that we would want to have

         17  some method that would red flag these increases or

         18  these split contracts that would automatically come

         19  up, or when you mention the question of penalty,

         20  right now there is no penalty. I mean what happens

         21  when contract splits?

         22                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: There is no

         23  penalty, it's a management issue. Other rules are

         24  violated as well in the daily course of government

         25  operations and there is no penalty, it's a
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          2  management issue. It depends on the philosophy of

          3  the agency and how strong the instructions are to

          4  their purchasing personnel to violate or not violate

          5  the rules.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right, but if

          7  they are already violating it at one level and we

          8  open the door to double or quadruple the amount,

          9  there is no reason there to assume they won't

         10  continue it and that they won't violate it at higher

         11  levels unless something else is instituted in the

         12  process. Does that seem logical?

         13                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: It does.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. Council

         15  Member Quinn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I don't have a

         17  question, I just wanted to apologize to the chair

         18  and the witnesses that I am also on the Health

         19  Committee, which is meeting, so I am going to be

         20  jumping back and forth, so I apologize in advance if

         21  I in fact even ask questions on things you may have

         22  already mentioned.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Sure.

         25                 Okay, another question I would have,
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          2  is there any way to tell from this, are you aware if

          3  the suppliers or the vendors involved are thoroughly

          4  aware of the rules governing small purchase

          5  requirements?

          6                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: No,

          7  unfortunately we are not. The audits didn't test for

          8  that or didn't cover that issue at all, so it would

          9  be pure conjecture on my part to answer that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. So, I mean

         11  there is no way of telling, I mean they may have

         12  been totally ignorant of this. Is there any way to

         13  see, I guess there isn't, to see what the bids

         14  actually were if they came in a bid package

         15  together?

         16                 MR. BAUM: I am not sure I understand

         17  the question. Are you asking whether there are

         18  documents that would reflect the bids? They should

         19  be in the agency's contract file.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. Because I

         21  think with Parks part of the problem was they said

         22  they weren't.

         23                 MR. BAUM: They weren't right, but in

         24  those cases where they were, even though the

         25  contracts were split, the bid documents were okay.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And those

          3  documents, there were bid documents for each

          4  individual contract?

          5                 MR. BAUM: Correct.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

          7                 Besides the periodic oversight and

          8  audits, is there any other type of mechanism you

          9  could foresee putting in place to ensure better

         10  compliance or enforcement with the small purchase

         11  rule?

         12                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I can't

         13  think of one now, other than what we have done, and

         14  the problem with -- it's a complex question because

         15  again, what I said earlier, I think mechanisms like

         16  that are a way to try to legislate good management,

         17  and management at the agency level comes from the

         18  top and I think if rules exist, and they are

         19  violated, then I am not sure I know any other way to

         20  correct that situation, which wouldn't then run you

         21  into efficiency problems.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I guess it was the

         23  "then what" that I missed.  So, in other words, you

         24  wouldn't want to put in additional rules --

         25                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I don't
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          2  know. I can't answer that. We would be glad to talk

          3  to you more about that and examine alternatives, but

          4  for every rule and every new mechanism to be put in

          5  place there is a cost. That is why the small

          6  purchase rules were put into effect in the first

          7  place.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, yes.

          9                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: To allow a

         10  certain amount of freedom in contrast to the cost of

         11  competitive bidding.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. I mean, you

         13  can understand our concerns, particularly if we are

         14  looking at quadrupling some of these limits, that if

         15  there is a certain amount of contract splitting

         16  already going on, how much control does the

         17  individual agency have over who they assigned that

         18  contract to? Because under small purchases they

         19  don't really do sealed bids. How much money do we

         20  lose in competition? I mean, Council Member Fiala

         21  mentioned the fact that there was the, was it the

         22  clay contract, that Parks did split a number of

         23  contracts, where if they had actually gone the

         24  regular competitive bidding route or gone through

         25  DCAS and had them bid it, they would have saved
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          2  money. And if that is one contract where it was easy

          3  to pull it out, do we have a clue as to how much

          4  money we might be missing by doing the contract

          5  splitting and not doing competitive bidding?

          6                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: In some

          7  cases the audits were able to determine that amount,

          8  if there was a subsequent bid, a legitimate bid, but

          9  not in all of them.

         10                 The audits didn't try to go back in

         11  hindsight and call other vendors and replicate the

         12  bidding process to find out how much it would cost.

         13  We couldn't do that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, I mean

         15  obviously some of this you can't do.

         16                 Can we get the information where you

         17  have actually gotten that? Or are they in the

         18  audits? Because the only instance I saw of that was

         19  the clay bids.

         20                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: We think

         21  there might be others, but we could talk and point

         22  them out.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: It would be

         24  helpful.

         25                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Sure.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Then I guess the

          3  other question that comes to mind again, because I

          4  am looking at some of these things, and consistently

          5  some of the agencies always used the same supplier,

          6  the same vendor. So, correct me if I am

          7  misunderstanding something, but if what you have to

          8  do for small purchase limits is to go out and say

          9  get a response from say five vendors, isn't that

         10  easy to say, okay, I want to use this vendor so I am

         11  going to go and get a number of other vendors who

         12  will come in with a higher amount so we always get

         13  that? Doesn't that give certainly rise to concern

         14  about an agency controlling which vendor always gets

         15  their contracts?

         16                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: That is

         17  true and on two levels, but I have to emphasize that

         18  you could always do that, if you wanted to, even if

         19  you did it legitimately and you didn't split

         20  contracts. You could still call one vendor you knew

         21  at the lowest price and then call a few other

         22  vendors who you know don't have good prices.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Sealed purchases

         24  and sealed bids?

         25                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Not for a
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          2  sealed purchase that is competitively advertised,

          3  but for small purchases, even when not split you

          4  could do that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

          6                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: Now, in the

          7  case of split contracts, what I would venture as

          8  happening is that they are not -- say they split a

          9  contract in three parts, they are probably not

         10  calling the same vendors again and asking them for

         11  the same information again. They call three vendors

         12  or five, get the bids, and then the next day write

         13  down the same bids and don't go through the process

         14  all over again as they are supposed to.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: But again, doesn't

         16  that give certain -- obviously that gives a certain

         17  rise to favoritism, even if it's favoritism just

         18  through an agency being lazy, and when do we lose

         19  the competitive process, and when does it cross over

         20  from just being laziness or mismanagement to

         21  something else?

         22                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER:  Well, I

         23  have a feeling it is not laziness or mismanagement,

         24  it is probably more of a priority which is we need

         25  to get this tomorrow and the manager says we can't
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          2  because we have to competitively advertise and

          3  somebody says I don't care how you do it, and then

          4  they split the bids to do that.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, see, I

          6  probably disagree with you, because I would think

          7  that is mismanagement, because on the number of

          8  these contracts it was obviously foreseeable that a

          9  number of these contracts were going to arise during

         10  the year, and I am looking at the -- you know, I am

         11  not presuming anyone is doing this for any nefarious

         12  reasons, I am just assuming that they have something

         13  to be done, they didn't do their homework, that is

         14  why I said they may be lazy or mismanaged, but that

         15  they haven't gone out.

         16                 I mean, it is reasonably foreseeable,

         17  since you are going to need autobody work, it is

         18  reasonably foreseeable that if you have X amount of

         19  ballfields you are going to need X amount of either

         20  sod or clay or something like that, so I mean how do

         21  you not know ahead of time that this contract is

         22  going to be necessary? And then why would you come

         23  in a day or two ahead of time and say well now we

         24  have to get this done, so now we will go out to this

         25  guy because we know we can call on them because they
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          2  can provide it --

          3                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: You are

          4  absolutely right.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And P.S., what

          6  happens if they can't?

          7                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I would

          8  venture that in many of the cases that the purchases

          9  should have been and could have been and were

         10  foreseeable, and then some sort of internal screw-up

         11  prevented them from getting the contracts in place

         12  and in time.

         13                 From a competitive viewpoint, which

         14  is what you mentioned earlier, the disadvantage of

         15  course of splitting a purchase, even if you do award

         16  each purchase to the lowest bidder, is that if the

         17  thing were bid in aggregate, the other vendors,

         18  knowing the increased quantity, might have bid less.

         19                 MR. BAUM: Or you might have attracted

         20  additional vendors to participate.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Sure. Well, again,

         22  there is no way that you are going to attract

         23  additional vendors, and I know because I have heard

         24  this litany before, that the whole point of this is

         25  particularly to help smaller contractors and it is
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          2  to help women or minority-owned businesses, but yet

          3  it seems to me what we are talking about is opening

          4  up competitively bid process, then to try and narrow

          5  the scope of the people that you invariably turn to,

          6  actually does just the opposite and it doesn't open

          7  up the process at all, and how do you get additional

          8  vendors in there if you always go back essentially

          9  to the same small amount? Are you sure you want to

         10  support raising these limits?

         11                 I mean, my position is very simple. I

         12  understand the necessity to speed up contracts and

         13  contracting and to be able to for smaller amounts

         14  get some of, you know, be able to turn around and

         15  not go through a cumbersome and laborious process.

         16  That makes sense.

         17                 What I would like to find out is, how

         18  do we prevent contract splitting? Because again,

         19  50,000, 25,000, even 100,000, you know it may be to

         20  some on a smaller level, a smaller vendor it might

         21  be important, but for a lot of large vendors it is

         22  not a big deal, and you know, it may not rise to the

         23  level of say, well, maybe we will give this to a

         24  friend. But when you are talking about something

         25  like a quarter of a million, half a million, or a
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          2  million dollars or more, then it seems to me that

          3  becomes very substantial, and if we are looking at

          4  increasing these limits, then I think we have to

          5  look very carefully at what the process is so it

          6  doesn't open up, the very reason these rules were

          7  put into being, which is to prevent fraud and

          8  malfeasance or whatever, and open it up to that.

          9                 You know, I don't want this to sound

         10  political, I am not necessarily saying that is what

         11  this administration is doing or any other one, but

         12  obviously if you take off some of the controls, then

         13  you open up that possibility.

         14                 So, how do we increase it without

         15  opening up the possibility?

         16                 And I guess the other question is, by

         17  looking at this it seems to me what we are doing

         18  right now, is rewarding a lot of these agencies, or

         19  looking to award a lot of agencies who currently are

         20  doing it wrong.

         21                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: I am going

         22  to try to address that question with the hat I used

         23  to wear when I worked in the Department of

         24  Sanitation as the director of Materials Management,

         25  and I recall the days when the small purchase limit
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          2  was $2,500, and believe me, you couldn't get much

          3  for that, and we blessed the heavens when DGS said

          4  we will raise it to 5,000, but on an

          5  agency-by-agency basis and predicated upon audits to

          6  see how we were doing already. And with the

          7  authority to withdraw that limitation, that limit.

          8                 You could consider approaches like

          9  that. We haven't really thought about the different

         10  mechanisms or controls that you could put in place,

         11  all we know is that at this point it is at the most

         12  simple level, which is they are not performing

         13  properly, so we oppose it without even thinking

         14  about other controls right now.

         15                 By the way, you will know more in the

         16  future, because we are starting to do follow-up

         17  audits to see if they have corrected their ways --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I would certainly

         19  recommend you continue doing this agency-by-agency

         20  and obviously giving the information to the

         21  Administration, and they are up next so I am going

         22  to ask them the same question.

         23                 Questions? I guess that is about it.

         24  Do you have any thoughts as to what you think the

         25  likely repercussion of raising the current limit is
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          2  under the Charter Revision Commission?

          3                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: No, we

          4  don't. It would be conjecture.

          5                 You could analyze how many purchases

          6  would likely fall now under the small procurement

          7  limit, if it were raised, but to speculate on

          8  whether agencies would therefore behave better, it

          9  would be just pure conjecture.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And I guess you

         11  addressed this, but, again, any thoughts to

         12  splitting the difference between goods and services

         13  and construction and the different categories?

         14                 DEPUTY COMPTROLLER LIWER: There seems

         15  to be some -- by the way, I should just mention,

         16  maybe that wasn't clear from the audits, that most

         17  of the instances of splitting that we found were for

         18  goods, not for services.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

         20                 MR. BAUM: There have been some

         21  compelling arguments with respect to advancing

         22  procurement efficiency to raise the small purchase

         23  limits moderately with respect to construction and

         24  services. Construction, the general cost of

         25  construction itself even for a small job, it is our
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          2  understanding, would frequently exceed $50,000, but

          3  be under $100,000 and there were compelling

          4  rationales laid out that it would be appropriate to

          5  raise the construction limit so that certain

          6  construction, agencies that deal with construction

          7  matters can operate more efficiently.

          8                 It was essentially, it is a balancing

          9  in our view. We though it ultimately was appropriate

         10  to vote in favor of a moderate increase with respect

         11  to services and construction, however, we are

         12  opposed to any further increase until we see more

         13  evidence of agency compliance with respect to small

         14  purchase requirements.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

         16                 Okay, unless there are other

         17  questions, thank you very much.

         18                 Okay, if you want to raise your right

         19  hand.

         20                 Do you swear to tell the truth, the

         21  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         22                 MR. STOLLER: Yes, I do.

         23                 MR. MILLMAN: Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Please proceed.

         25  And as usual, state your name for the record and
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          2  your position.

          3                 MR. STOLLER: I am Michael Stoller. I

          4  am the Executive Director of the City's Procurement

          5  Policy Board.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: What happened to

          7  your foot?

          8                 MR. STOLLER: Thank you for asking. I

          9  was running for the subway the day I dropped my

         10  daughter off for camp and smashed my fifth

         11  metatarsal.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Ouch. And I assume

         13  you are suing the MTA?

         14                 MR. STOLLER: Isn't that another

         15  hearing? Thank you for asking. This is the end of

         16  it.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: You can decline to

         18  comment.

         19                 MR. STOLLER: Thank you, I appreciate

         20  it. Especially under oath.

         21                 I have no prepared testimony today,

         22  but with the Chair's permission, and Claude's

         23  discretion, I am just going to give you a factual

         24  statement of where we are in the rules, where the

         25  vote is, to make sure we are all on the same page
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          2  there.

          3                 On June 12th, 1997, the PPB voted to

          4  change the small purchase limits, this will be for

          5  the second time, as Council Member Fiala pointed

          6  out, the last time was in April of '95, but in June

          7  of '97, two years ago, we voted to have goods remain

          8  at $25,000, double services small purchase limit

          9  from 25 to 50,000, and double construction from

         10  50,000 to 100,000. The vote was unanimous. The Board

         11  supports the passage of Resolution 58, which would

         12  reflect Council concurrence with these changes.

         13                 More recently, on May 14th of '99,

         14  the PPB voted into the capital rule-making process,

         15  a proposed rule, this has not been dealt with as a

         16  final rule, to raise the small purchase limit to a

         17  uniform $100,000. The vote was three to one in favor

         18  of putting it into CAPA. The CAPA hearing was held

         19  on July 27th, and three comments were received, the

         20  Comptroller's Office opposed the increase, the DEP

         21  ACCO supported and the Contracts Committee chair

         22  stated that greater debate and investigation is

         23  needed in this area, which I assume is the purpose

         24  behind today's hearing.

         25                 That was actually the extent of what
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          2  I was going to say, except you asked two questions

          3  of the Comptroller's folks that I have the answer

          4  to.

          5                 You asked about the effect of the

          6  small purchases increase on minority and woman-owned

          7  firms, and you asked about how we know what the

          8  vendors want.

          9                 Respectfully, I think there is a

         10  misunderstanding on the Chair's part about how

         11  Bid-Match works. Though the rule requires, the PPB

         12  rule requires five bidders, five potential proposed

         13  bidders to be solicited, any small purchase goes to

         14  the Department of Business Services Bid-Match

         15  system, which is a computer system, and any small

         16  contractor who is registered with that system also

         17  gets that information and an opportunity to bid.

         18                 Therefore, if we raise the small

         19  purchase limit, we increase, not decrease, the pool

         20  of applicants for those bids, because all of those

         21  minority and woman-owned firms get the shot they

         22  might not otherwise have gotten, that is the first

         23  thing.

         24                 The second thing is you asked about

         25  vendors. The Chair received, we also got copies and
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          2  we have additional copies, for the Council Members

          3  who are here, letters from the General Contractors

          4  Association, which represents heavy construction

          5  contractors, the Human Services Council which

          6  represents human service agencies and suppliers and

          7  the chair of the 28-member PPB advisory council, all

          8  of which are in support of Resolution 58 and in fact

          9  of going higher to the $100,000 limit. So, if you

         10  want to know what the contractors want, you do know,

         11  it was on your fax machine today.

         12                 Having said that, also, I must add

         13  that the Comptroller's office has very fair and

         14  honest testimony, despite the chair's barrage of

         15  questions, held to their support of Resolution 58,

         16  so you had the Comptroller, the PPB, the Mayor and

         17  the entire contracting community in support of this

         18  resolution, which has been on your table for two

         19  years.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 If I could, could we hold the

         22  questions until Claude finishes?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay.

         24                 MR. MILLMAN: Good afternoon, my name

         25  is Claude Millman, I am Director of the Mayor's
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          2  Office of Contracts, and the City Chief Procurement

          3  Officer. I appreciate the opportunity to appear

          4  before you today.

          5                 Today's hearing is entitled The Small

          6  Payment Rule and Contract Splitting. It is my

          7  understanding, however, that this Committee is not

          8  interested in hearing testimony today about the

          9  small purchase rule and how it can be improved or

         10  about contract splitting, a necessary and perfectly

         11  legal practice.

         12                 Instead, I am told that the Committee

         13  is instead interested in hearing whether any

         14  agencies are violating the Procurement Policy Board

         15  Rule 3-08(b), which states, a procurement shall not

         16  be artificially divided in order to meet the

         17  requirements of this section, which sets the small

         18  purchase limits at $25,000 for goods and services,

         19  $50,000 for construction and construction-related

         20  services and $100,000 for information technology.

         21                 Specifically I am advised that the

         22  Committee's focus today is on ten audits issued by

         23  the Office of the Comptroller that purport to

         24  address whether agencies are complying with the rule

         25  prohibiting agencies from artificially dividing
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          2  procurement in order to meet the small purchase

          3  limits.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I don't mean to

          5  interrupt you, but I want to respectfully disagree

          6  because I am concerned about the question of

          7  increasing the small purchase limits, and I do, as

          8  my questions I thought indicated, I am interested in

          9  finding out, because we have been banting back about

         10  this, but just exactly what we do do about contract

         11  splitting because I don't think there is much of an

         12  argument that a lot of the agencies do it.

         13                 MR. MILLMAN: This is a hearing on

         14  Resolution 58?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Not technically.

         16  But I think that we are going to go forward on that.

         17                 MR. MILLMAN: That's my point. If you

         18  are holding a hearing on Resolution 58, which is a

         19  resolution about raising the small purchase limits

         20  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: On the other hand,

         22  my concerns, and I think the concerns of the

         23  Committee have been if we are going to do that, if

         24  we are going to increase the small purchase limits,

         25  can we just do it in a vacuum? And I think reso 58
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          2  basically does it in a vacuum.

          3                 MR. STOLLER: It is not in a vacuum.

          4  We have been dealing with this for years. We dealt

          5  with this when I was your Counsel.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Yes, but the

          7  audits came out much later than that.

          8                 Well, anyway, go ahead, it is just

          9  that I just disagreed with your characterization.

         10                 MR. MILLMAN: That's fine.

         11                 I have been the City Chief

         12  Procurement officer since February 1998, I have

         13  spent much of my professional life since that time

         14  working with Agency Chief Contracting Officers and

         15  other City procurement professionals, members and

         16  staff of the Procurement Policy Board, and numerous

         17  members of the contracting community, as well as

         18  vendors that have chosen not to do business with the

         19  City for various reasons.

         20                 From every direction I have heard the

         21  same complaint - the City's procurement process is

         22  slow, and cumbersome. It is easy to understand why

         23  it takes the City nine months to complete a

         24  procurement through the competitive, sealed proposal

         25  process and four months to do so through the
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          2  competitive sealed bid process.

          3                 Contractors are frequently expected

          4  to start work before the process is complete.

          5  Accordingly, our slow procurement process cycles

          6  have real cash flow implications for those who wish

          7  to do business with us.

          8                 Not once in any conversation with any

          9  procurement professional or representative of the

         10  contracting community has anyone said to me the real

         11  problem is that the City is artificially dividing

         12  procurements to meet the small purchase limits.

         13                 That is because artificially divided

         14  procurements are rare, whereas slow and lawful

         15  procurements are common. Put differently, you have

         16  convened today to discuss the wrong issue.

         17                 This Committee should be devoting its

         18  time to addressing the question that uniformly is

         19  asked by those who know about the City's contracting

         20  system. Can we simplify and accelerate the

         21  procurement process without jeopardizing

         22  competition, quality and integrity? The answer is

         23  yes, provided that all of the participants in the

         24  process, the Procurement Policy Board, the

         25  Administration, the Comptroller and the Council,
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          2  join in the effort.

          3                 Today I will address what is being

          4  done regarding that issue, what must be done and why

          5  the Comptroller's audits are both flawed and

          6  distracting from the real issue.

          7                 The PPB must be credited with taking

          8  the lead in the effort to streamline the procurement

          9  system. It has reduced its rulebook by 70 percent

         10  and solved at least one aspect of the prompt payment

         11  problem. It has also fashioned new procurement

         12  approaches that can cut months off the ordinary

         13  process.

         14                 The Administration has also focused

         15  on streamlining and we are seeing some improvement

         16  in the procurement process cycle times. In fiscal

         17  year 1999, we reduced procurement process cycle

         18  times for competitive sealed proposals by six

         19  percent. For negotiated acquisitions, which are

         20  generally time sensitive, we cut our processing

         21  times by 21 percent. Our performance in May and June

         22  1999 during the peak of the procurement season,

         23  showed significant improvement.

         24                 Procurements that had to be submitted

         25  to the Mayor's Office of Contracts were there
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          2  approximately one month earlier than the year

          3  before. At MOC we cut our review time during those

          4  months by 66 percent overall, and by 74 percent for

          5  human service agencies.

          6                 We reviewed contracts from the human

          7  service agencies in seven days on average. We turned

          8  around submissions from the Administration for

          9  Children's Services, submissions that this Committee

         10  has made inquiries about in the past, in just 11.5

         11  days on average.

         12                 This improved performance is in large

         13  measure due to a shift in our approach. We are

         14  moving towards the system in which performance and

         15  integrity are reviewed at the oversight level

         16  year-round, rather than during the peak procurement

         17  season.

         18                 The Office of the Comptroller has

         19  never been a major contributor to procurement

         20  process delays. That office, however, must join the

         21  administration in shifting from a seasonal to

         22  year-round approach. Questions regarding contractor

         23  performance must be addressed year-round through the

         24  audit process. The registration period during the

         25  peak procurement season is not the right time to
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          2  start asking for and reviewing agency records about

          3  contractors with which the City is proposing to

          4  continue contracting.

          5                 Such an approach necessarily leads to

          6  delays, as it did this year, in connection with ACS

          7  contract amendments. Towards the end of Fiscal Year

          8  1999, ACS submitted 118 foster and preventive care

          9  procurements to the Office of the Comptroller. The

         10  average time that it took formally to register these

         11  contracts from the date of original submission to

         12  the date of formal registration was 42 days. None of

         13  the 55 foster care contracts were formally

         14  registered within the 30-day period imposed by law,

         15  and some contracts were not formally registered for

         16  more than 60 days.

         17                 The delays were in large measure the

         18  result of a misguided approach to procurement. All

         19  oversights should audit or investigate repeat

         20  contractors year-round, not during the peak season.

         21                 The fact that the Office of the

         22  Comptroller chose to conduct ten audits to

         23  investigate whether agencies are artificially

         24  dividing procurements to avoid the small purchase

         25  limits itself reflects a lack of proper focus.
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          2                 The audits are not useful because

          3  they do not tell us whether there has been any

          4  wrongdoing, much less any violations of the rule,

          5  and do not address an issue of interest to the

          6  business, not-for-profit and procurement

          7  communities.

          8                 The audits use a flawed methodology

          9  in two major respects: First, they are not based on

         10  a random sample. They do not attempt to demonstrate

         11  what percentage of small purchases represent

         12  procurements that have been artificially divided for

         13  the purpose of meeting small purchase limits, rather

         14  they merely attempt to discover whether the audited

         15  agency ever split an order.

         16                 To do so, the auditors merely

         17  identified instances in which the agencies issued

         18  multiple orders to the same contractors. This is not

         19  the normal audit methodology, and it provides no

         20  basis upon which to draw generalized conclusions.

         21                 Indeed the auditors do not even

         22  attempt to do so. The auditors do not attempt to

         23  extrapolate from their findings and estimate the

         24  incidence of artificial contract splitting in the

         25  City, nor could anyone do so from their work given
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          2  the skewed nature of their sample. The auditors do

          3  not suggest that their findings reflect corruption,

          4  waste or inefficiencies. There is no credible claim

          5  of any reduction in competition or missed

          6  opportunities for cost savings, nor could there be

          7  given the limited nature of the audit methodologies.

          8                 The audits have a second major flaw.

          9  The auditors ignored the language of PPB rule

         10  3-08(b). I should say they don't even in their

         11  testimony, or in their audit reports, quote the

         12  rule.

         13                 The auditors erroneously assumed that

         14  it is illegal to split a contract. It is not illegal

         15  to do so. It is illegal to artificially divide a

         16  procurement to meet the small purchase limits. The

         17  City, just like everybody else, splits much of its

         18  purchasing. We buy about $7 billion in goods,

         19  services and construction. In theory, we could

         20  purchase everything through one contract with one

         21  vendor. Under the auditor's view of the law, it is

         22  illegal to split that purchasing as we do, 10,000

         23  ways. Obviously the auditors are wrong.

         24                 Procurement professionals regularly

         25  wrestle with issues regarding whether to bundle or
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          2  split their purchases. Bundling can sometimes lead

          3  to cost savings, but it might also reduce

          4  competition and lead to higher prices. Similarly

          5  there may be administrative advantages to splitting

          6  a purchase. For example, the Department of Parks and

          7  Recreation is administratively organized by borough.

          8  Purchasing, even when handled centrally is generally

          9  borough-based for purchases above and below the

         10  small purchase limits. Split purchases may also

         11  result from inadequate information on poor planning.

         12  An agency might for example incorrectly estimate the

         13  amounts needed of a particular product and as a

         14  result engage in repeated purchases of the same

         15  item. None of this is illegal.

         16                 I am sure that each of you splits and

         17  bundles your purchases for many reasons.

         18                 Some of us buy the same newspaper

         19  every day, rather than purchase a single

         20  prescription. You might purchase lunch each day

         21  rather than negotiate a contract for a year supply

         22  of lunches from one vendor. Under the auditor's

         23  theory, these are illegal split contracts.

         24                 In fact, a transaction only violates

         25  PPB rule 3-08(b) if the agency artificially divides
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          2  the procurement in order to meet the small purchase

          3  limits and circumvent the procurement rules. An

          4  intent to circumvent the rule must be shown to

          5  establish a violation of the rule.

          6                 The auditors never sought evidence of

          7  such intent and were never presented with any. In

          8  both instances the auditors were presented with

          9  contrary evidence which they rejected on the

         10  incorrect theory that once a purchase is split the

         11  rule is violated.

         12                 Because the audits ignore the rule

         13  that they are designed to enforce, they are

         14  completely useless.

         15                 They are also useless because they do

         16  not address a problem of our procurement system. It

         17  would be far more valuable if the Office of the

         18  Comptroller conducted audits of our contractors to

         19  ensure vendor integrity, or audits of the

         20  contracting payment process. An interesting

         21  question, for example, would be how quickly are

         22  agencies approving or rejecting contractor invoices.

         23  Even the Comptroller's representative on the PPB

         24  noted that this issue needs to be investigated and

         25  possibly addressed.
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          2                 We would welcome that and indeed plan

          3  to initiate our own reviews in this area.

          4                 This Committee should not be

          5  distracted by the Comptroller's audits. It should

          6  focus on how procurement process cycle time can be

          7  reduced. This Committee has held only one hearing

          8  regarding contracting delays during my 18-month

          9  tenure. More importantly, it has taken no action on

         10  any of the legislation before it that is designed to

         11  streamline and accelerate the procurement process.

         12                 For more than two years, a period

         13  that is actually longer than our procurement process

         14  cycle times, this Committee has had before it

         15  Resolution 58, which would increase the small

         16  purchase limits for services from $25,000 to $50,000

         17  and construction-related services from $50,000 to

         18  $100,000.

         19                 This Committee has literally ignored

         20  that legislation. Indeed the Chair of this Committee

         21  testified last month that she had been battling back

         22  and forth over two years about whether we should

         23  have a hearing on this legislation. One must wonder,

         24  why would this Committee delay holding a hearing on

         25  this legislation? What is this Committee afraid that
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          2  it will learn at such a hearing?

          3                 The legislation was passed as a rule

          4  unanimously by the PPB, both comptroller

          5  representatives supported it. The Human Services

          6  Council, the General Contractors Association, and

          7  the Chair of the PPB Advisory Council, all support

          8  an even higher increase of the small purchase

          9  limits.

         10                 The legislation also makes sense. We

         11  should focus our efforts on the large procurements

         12  that consume the vast majority of our contracting

         13  budget and develop an efficient, competitive process

         14  for the many small procurements that collectively

         15  only make up a tiny fraction of our budget.

         16                 Increasing the small purchase limits

         17  mean making more contracts available to women and

         18  minority-owned businesses through the City's

         19  Bid-Match system, and making the system more

         20  inviting to small and new contractors generally.

         21                 It also means eliminating the

         22  contracting delays that have plagued us in the Youth

         23  and Community Development area.

         24                 Last year I informed this Committee

         25  that raising the small purchase limit would
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          2  eliminate those delays and ask each member that

          3  failed to support the legislation to inform any

          4  contractors that call complaining of delays of their

          5  complicity in the problem. Despite the current low

          6  small purchase limits, we accelerated the processing

          7  of procurements in the Youth and Community

          8  Development area this year, but there were still

          9  delays. This Committee's inaction on Resolution 58

         10  is a major reason why there were delays this year.

         11                 In short, there is much this

         12  Committee can do to accelerate the procurement

         13  process. It can do nothing, however, if it will not

         14  even hold a hearing on legislation before it.

         15                 You are meeting today on the wrong

         16  issue. You must begin to address the issue that the

         17  contracting community actually cares about. The ten

         18  audits issued by the Office of the Comptroller are

         19  not material to any such issue, and not even

         20  properly analyze the issue that they purport to

         21  address.

         22                 Do not waste your time with them.

         23  Pass resolution 58 instead. Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Thank you.

         25                 So, I am a little confused. You are
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          2  saying that in point of fact there is no contract

          3  splitting going on?

          4                 MR. MILLMAN: I am saying that the

          5  audits have absolutely nothing to do -- well, first

          6  of all I should say, there is -- yes, there is tons

          7  of contract splitting because we have $7 billion in

          8  contracting split among at least 10,000 contracts.

          9  So, yes, there is contract splitting.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, I don't

         11  think I am defining contract splitting the way you

         12  are defining it then.

         13                 MR. MILLMAN: You are not defining it

         14  in accordance with the PPB rules.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, you know, I

         16  don't think it is up to me to figure out what the

         17  intent of someone when they split a contract is.

         18                 MR. MILLMAN: Then you are not talking

         19  about the PPB rules.

         20                 MR. STOLLER: I can speak to that,

         21  since I had something to do with drafting that PPB

         22  rule.

         23                 The rule talks about artificially

         24  dividing to circumvent the rule. In other words, it

         25  is somebody who wants to get over. It is not someone
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          2  who is doing their job properly, it is someone who

          3  -- actually sometimes even for good reasons they

          4  split it, but if they artificially divide it, in

          5  order to get over on the rule, to violate the rule,

          6  then they have violated 3-08. If they split it for a

          7  legitimate reason, in other words, if it is not

          8  artificially divided, then it is not a violation of

          9  the rule.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right. Well,

         11  Mr. Millman said that, for instance, at Parks they

         12  were divided by borough, but I was unaware of us

         13  having 13 boroughs.

         14                 MR. MILLMAN: No. What I was referring

         15  to is there was a procurement, or set of

         16  procurements that the Department of Parks did that

         17  is referred to in the Parks' audit report, where the

         18  Department of Parks did five separate, I believe it

         19  was a construction purchase, if memory serves me

         20  right, it was a long time ago that I looked at this

         21  and met with Parks on the matter.

         22                 But what they did was they needed

         23  construction -- well, they needed construction

         24  Citywide and the way they are organized is by

         25  borough, so they did five separate procurements.
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          2                 What the Comptroller did not do, and

          3  I think this is quite frankly not good auditing, is

          4  when they were presented with that argument, the

          5  natural response of any auditor would be, okay, if

          6  that is the way you ordinarily structure your

          7  contracting, show me how you do things above the

          8  small purchase limits.

          9                 We asked Parks to do that, and in

         10  fact Parks came back with information demonstrating

         11  that when they do procurements above the small

         12  purchase limits, they also divvy everything up by

         13  borough proving that their intent was not to

         14  circumvent the rule. Their content was to continue

         15  doing things the way they always do them,

         16  intelligently or unintelligently, which is by

         17  borough.

         18                 They think that is better, but it is

         19  certainly not a violation of 3-08(b), and the

         20  Comptroller's office never asked the question that

         21  has to be asked in order to figure that out, because

         22  they didn't read the rule, I suspect. They just

         23  heard the phrase contract splitting and therefore

         24  said, okay, let's see if there is contract

         25  splitting. Yes, there is contract splitting.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right. I don't

          3  want to pick on any particular agency, but as I said

          4  I am looking at some of Parks. And while there was

          5  one that was five, that could be boroughs, there

          6  were a number that were split many more times, where

          7  you have exactly the same vendor, they were done on

          8  exactly the same day and even the contract number

          9  was like one or two apart.

         10                 MR. MILLMAN: Well, what one would

         11  have to do to figure out whether or not there was a

         12  violation of 3-08(b), is go to Parks and ask them

         13  why did they arrange the contracts this way. I don't

         14  believe the Comptroller's Office did that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Actually, I

         16  thought they did because I think that once they did

         17  their audits, they sent them to the individual

         18  agencies for comment and then some of these agencies

         19  the agency said, no, this isn't contract splitting

         20  because we did it for A, B or C reason.

         21                 MR. MILLMAN: Yes, and then the

         22  Comptroller's Office would say, well, that is fine

         23  but you could have done it a different way, it was

         24  still split so we reject your response. So, what is

         25  the point of responding to something like that.
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          2                 MR. STOLLER: If I may, I mean -- how

          3  do I want to phrase this -- this hearing can be very

          4  well designed to pick a fight between the

          5  Administration and the Comptroller's office on these

          6  audits.  I am sure, and tell me if I am speaking out

          7  of turn, since I cannot speak for the Administration

          8  on this issue, but Roger said that he would be

          9  willing to think about ways to oversee the contracts

         10  more effectively, and we have to also, the PPB

         11  rule-makers, the Administration and the Comptroller,

         12  and I think we can work out a way to do that. No one

         13  wants to see contracts artificially split. We don't

         14  want to see our rules violated. The real question is

         15  why we are talking about that. When you have the

         16  people who wrote the audit that you are pushing so

         17  hard in support of Resolution 58, you have the

         18  Administration favor it, you have a unanimous board,

         19  you have contracting communities from the heavy

         20  contractors to Human Services in favor of it. The

         21  only other people I see in the audience, with all

         22  due respect, is DC 37, who I assume is going to

         23  testify against it. And if that is what this is

         24  about, then let's just -- you know, you are asking

         25  the wrong questions respectfully, Madam Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: But the questions

          3  I asked of the Comptroller's Office, and I have no

          4  intention of picking a fight between the two of you,

          5  I have no particular reason to, I am as concerned

          6  about streamlining the contracting position. The

          7  problem is that if this happens, and as I said, I am

          8  casting no dispersions on anyone, we don't even have

          9  to talk about it under this Administration, let's

         10  just talk about the fact that clearly there is the

         11  possibility of misuse under this, or too much

         12  control on the part of an agency, and I have

         13  consistently said my problem has been that if there

         14  is -- we can disagree as to whether there is

         15  contract splitting or whatever, but there is a

         16  certain amount of oversight that is not happening

         17  now on some contracts. And looking at some of these,

         18  some of them add up to well over the $100,000 marks.

         19  So, it's --

         20                 MR. STOLLER: It's not a question of

         21  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Let me finish my

         23  comments.

         24                 MR. STOLLER: I am sorry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And then you can
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          2  go.

          3                 But the point is, nothing kicked this

          4  out. Nothing picked this up in the system. And

          5  before we award what I consider to be avoidance of

          6  the system, and we can disagree on that, but what do

          7  we put in that will kick this out so that it will

          8  prevent what is now maybe a quarter of a million

          9  dollar amount of contracts awarded to the same

         10  vendor on the same day, how do we prevent that from

         11  being a million dollars?

         12                 MR. STOLLER: First of all, as the

         13  Comptroller's representative so rightly said, there

         14  is oversight, that is why we are here.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: But it was never

         16  picked up --

         17                 MR. STOLLER: May I finish my

         18  comments?

         19                 That is why the auditors did what

         20  they did. That is why Claude I understand is meeting

         21  with these --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I am sorry, I

         23  thought they did it because I had asked them to.

         24                 MR. STOLLER: The auditors did their

         25  audits in accordance with their procedures under the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  Comptroller's Office, which is his power under the

          3  Charter. That is part of the oversight process. You

          4  are holding this hearing, that is part of the

          5  oversight process.

          6                 Claude and the folks from MOC are

          7  going to be meeting with these agencies, I

          8  understand, to tell them how to do it better. The

          9  process worked.

         10                 MR. MILLMAN: We have met with them.

         11                 MR. STOLLER: You have met with them,

         12  excuse me. Yes, people will gain the line, whether

         13  it is a buck or a million bucks, people will gain

         14  the line. I dare say it happens in all of the

         15  Council offices, who knows? There is much purchasing

         16  going on in the City, someone inadvertently or

         17  intentionally will gain that line. The question is,

         18  and believe me, I am not casting aspersions on the

         19  Council. If anybody does it, the question is do we

         20  write a rule for the stupidest and most dishonest

         21  person, or do we write it for the person who is the

         22  average person working at the job intelligently and

         23  honestly so this system works the best way it can?

         24                 You have heard, I don't know who else

         25  you need to hear it from, you have heard from the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            64

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2  contractors, the Administration, the Comptroller and

          3  the PPB that the best thing to do right now may not

          4  be to raise it across the board to $100,000, but

          5  definitely to raise construction to 100 and services

          6  to 50.

          7                 Roger testified in response to your

          8  question that most of the audit mistakes that he

          9  caught were in goods. The resolution 58 keeps goods

         10  to $25,000. We are not asking that to be changed.

         11  That is resolution 58. Resolution 58, if you will

         12  just check it, refers to keep goods at $25,000,

         13  raises services to 50 and construction to 100. The

         14  new proposal which has just gone through the CAPA

         15  process raises everything to $100,000.

         16                 We are not here fighting for that

         17  yet, we have to analyze the CAPA comment. That is

         18  the point of the public hearing process, but we are

         19  here strongly advocating it, Resolution 58.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. So, what do

         21  you think about the Charter Commission response then

         22  up to $100,000?

         23                 MR. STOLLER: Myself personally? Are

         24  you asking me a personal question? I can't speak for

         25  the Board, are you asking me personally?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, I guess my

          3  question is, and I will ask Claude this too, why the

          4  separation?

          5                 Prior to this time we have

          6  historically had a separation --

          7                 MR. STOLLER: Of what?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Because there is a

          9  difference between goods and services and

         10  construction --

         11                 MR. STOLLER: You want the separation?

         12  Vote in 58 and get the separation, get 25,000 for

         13  goods, 50,000 for services and 100 for construction,

         14  there is your separation.

         15                 The Charter Commission apparently

         16  didn't think, unanimously I believe, didn't think it

         17  was necessary, and we are exploring that as part of

         18  the Board. Do you want to put that issue aside to

         19  the election? Fine. But you have resolution 58

         20  before you since 1997.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And what I still

         22  haven't heard is, and I am sorry, it is the glass

         23  full or glass empty, the question if you are going

         24  to allow contracts with the possibility of being

         25  split. You are telling me now we are going to do the
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          2  auditing, and with all due respect, one of the

          3  reasons I think we are getting audits for a lot of

          4  this is because this Committee has consistently

          5  kicked up and said what about this?

          6                 MR. MILLMAN: There was a suggestion

          7  made --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, I am sorry,

          9  let me just --

         10                 MR. MILLMAN: I am going to object

         11  again to your phrase split, which is the wrong

         12  phrase. It is artificially divided in order to

         13  violate the small purchase limits.

         14                 But in any event, if the question is

         15  what could we do to minimize the risk that there are

         16  going to be violations of the law, there was a

         17  suggestion, I can't remember whether it was Ross

         18  Sandler or -- at the PPB, not the last one but the

         19  meeting before that of the PPB, and I thought this

         20  was very intelligent, that the limits should be high

         21  across the board, but then what should happen is in

         22  the event that someone violates a limit or displays

         23  an inability to comply with the law generally, then

         24  the management would have the ability to say, no, we

         25  can't trust you with that much power and strip that
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          2  particular individual of authority.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: You are saying the

          4  individual at the agency or the individual --

          5                 MR. MILLMAN: Let me give it another

          6  example. There is no reason to focus on rule 3-08(b)

          7  as the one rule that people violate. It is not

          8  frequently violated, I suspect, and no one knows

          9  because no proper investigation has been done. But I

         10  suspect it is not frequently violated and I am sure

         11  it is not violated any more than any other rule.

         12                 There are probably thousands of rules

         13  in the procurement process and I am sure that

         14  occasionally individuals who are involved in

         15  procurement violate the rules, just as people run

         16  red lights and violate all rules we have.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Yes, but you

         18  shouldn't reward them for it.

         19                 MR. MILLMAN: And I am not proposing

         20  to reward anyone. However, as a management device,

         21  certainly when I am dealing with the Agency Chief

         22  Contracting Officers and other procurement

         23  professionals, I can assure you that if I learn that

         24  someone has violated a rule, then we take

         25  appropriate action. Now, obviously the most
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          2  significant wrongdoing would be corruption of some

          3  sort, and if there any indication that a procurement

          4  professional were involved in corruption, we would

          5  take very serious action.

          6                 Another type violation that someone

          7  might do is indicate on a document that they have

          8  checked the VENDEX system, whereas in fact they have

          9  not checked the VENDEX system. There is a rule that

         10  says you have to check the VENDEX system. Someone

         11  could theoretically violate it. Does it happen?

         12  Probably just as people run red lights, yes I am

         13  sure it does happen. And in the event I discovered

         14  that, that would be a very serious violation and we

         15  would take appropriate action. If someone were to

         16  violate Rule 3-08(b), we would take similar action.

         17                 I think that Ross Sandler's

         18  suggestion was trying to build into the procurement

         19  system the notion that if a procurement professional

         20  has not demonstrated the ability to comply with the

         21  rules, they get less discretion, and in fact that is

         22  already in the Charter, which says that when the

         23  Mayor delegates authority to the agencies, the Mayor

         24  may only do so if the Mayor is assured that that

         25  agency can comply with the rules.
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          2                 A properly done audit reflecting

          3  violations of Rule 3-08(b) would definitely warrant

          4  such action with respect to delegations. And I would

          5  be certainly happy to work with the Comptroller's

          6  Office to help them frame audits in a proper fashion

          7  in this area.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right. I am

          9  looking at, definitely not touching that, I am

         10  looking at Nationwide Auto Painting, that is a

         11  vendor name for the Fire Department, where they had

         12  ten contracts for exactly $25,000 to do autobody

         13  work and repairs. Now, I suppose we can assume that

         14  it is just coincidence that they were all $25,000

         15  each time. But quite frankly, I would think to the

         16  ordinary person in the street looking at that,

         17  someone is going to suggest that, gee, isn't that

         18  interesting. They all came in at that amount, which

         19  just coincidentally means that they can go through

         20  the small purchase procedure.

         21                 MR. MILLMAN: That particular one,

         22  which is over a period of nine months, to me does

         23  not necessarily, I cannot draw one conclusion one

         24  way or another whether an agency artificially

         25  divided procurement in order to meet the small
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          2  purchase rules in that instance.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: All right.

          4                 MR. MILLMAN: Nor can I ever do so

          5  from a chart of this sort. The proper way to

          6  investigate a violation which involves intent is to

          7  interview the individuals involved, gather all of

          8  the facts and then draw conclusions about what their

          9  intent is, which is a question of inference.

         10                 If you try to, for example, I am a

         11  former litigator, and I can tell you that if I went

         12  to court with this chart, if I brought this chart to

         13  court --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I know, but this

         15  isn't a criminal court either.

         16                 MR. MILLMAN: I understand that, and

         17  we are not talking about putting anyone in jail, but

         18  you are expecting me to indicate whether or not

         19  people violated a rule, which is a fairly serious

         20  indication.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: What would your

         22  response be to this, though?

         23                 For instance, assuming -- say each

         24  one of these were 50,000, so now we are talking

         25  about a half a million overall, what would MOC's
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          2  response be to something like this?

          3                 MR. MILLMAN: If there was a chart

          4  indicating that over a nine-month period of time an

          5  agency made a bunch of purchases at $50,000? I would

          6  want to know, what I would want to know, and this is

          7  what the auditors should have worked on finding out,

          8  whether or not there was a violation of the rule. I

          9  cannot tell whether there is a violation of the rule

         10  from a list of procurements.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: If you determine

         12  there was a violation of the rule, what would you

         13  do?

         14                 MR. MILLMAN: I think first of all I

         15  would try and figure out why there was a violation

         16  of the rule. It could be for many reasons. It could

         17  be that the individuals involved don't understand

         18  the rule. If it was an intentional violation of the

         19  rule, I would want to know why they intended to

         20  violate it. Was there corruption involved, or was it

         21  because they were trying to -- there was an example

         22  given by Mr. Liwer indicating that there was a

         23  mistake made somewhere in the process and in order

         24  to accomplish the agency mission they felt they had

         25  to violate the rule because the agency mission was
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          2  more important. That doesn't excuse a violation of

          3  the rule, nonetheless, it is different than a

          4  violation of the rule that is motivated by

          5  corruption, and then I think I would want to take

          6  some action to, first of all find out --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: What action?

          8                 MR. MILLMAN: Well, one thing I would

          9  want to do is find out why didn't that agency come

         10  to MOC to try and solve the problem that they were

         11  facing. Was there at that time, were there rules

         12  that they could have come to us and worked through?

         13  At the time that most of these audits were done, the

         14  rules could not have solved a lot of problems,

         15  however the rules are better now and so agencies

         16  might be more willing to come to us.

         17                 If a person just violated the rules,

         18  I think I would remove delegation authority. I mean,

         19  if it was clear they violated the rule, there was no

         20  excuse, I would remove delegation authority from

         21  that individual.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I mean, even

         23  looking at the same thing with the ten autobody work

         24  and repair things, I would assume, and you heard me

         25  say this earlier, that it was predictable, for
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          2  instance, that X amount of, and probably some of

          3  these may even have been scheduled repairs, but

          4  chances are you would have known that these were

          5  going to come up, certain amounts were going to come

          6  up.

          7                 MR. MILLMAN: Maybe or maybe not. I

          8  have no idea, nor can anyone know. You would have to

          9  have far more facts than you have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Where you know you

         11  are going to need X amount of clay.

         12                 MR. MILLMAN: Okay.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: So, what I don't

         14  understand, and I would think even looking at the

         15  competitive bid, and looking at, if you will,

         16  economies of scale, and in fact the fact that DCAS

         17  came in with two dollars less on --

         18                 MR. MILLMAN: That is not what that

         19  evidence shows. What that evidence shows in the

         20  audit report is that after -- I don't know much

         21  about the clay market, I don't know if you are an

         22  expert in the clay market, I am not. However --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I am just looking

         24  at the information that was given.

         25                 MR. MILLMAN: If clay is like any
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          2  other commodity, then the price rises and falls. The

          3  fact that DCAS months later --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And like any other

          5  market, if you buy on economies of scale, if you buy

          6  a large amount, chances are you are going to get the

          7  larger amount for slightly less, which is why we

          8  have competitive bidding and the idea is to come in

          9  with a better contract.

         10                 MR. MILLMAN: That is not why we have

         11  competitive --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Can you say --

         13                 MR. MILLMAN: No, I am sorry, that is

         14  not correct. There is also a rule of diminishing

         15  returns, which indicates that the more you buy at

         16  some point, at some point you are going to reduce

         17  competition.  Because, for instance, clay, there may

         18  be in this market a thousand people who can supply

         19  clay for one ball field or two at any one moment.

         20  However, maybe it is possible that there is only one

         21  company that can provide clay for ten ball fields

         22  immediately on demand. I have no idea because I

         23  don't know much about the market for clay and the

         24  auditors don't know either because they didn't

         25  interview the individuals to find out why the orders
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          2  were split because they didn't care why the orders

          3  were split, all they cared about was that they were

          4  split. They weren't investigating the rule.

          5  Therefore the audits were done incorrectly, they are

          6  not useful.

          7                 And they are also not useful because

          8  they don't pertain to any issue that anyone really

          9  cares about. The issues that people really care

         10  about is how can we speed up a process that takes

         11  nine months to do a procurement. The questions that

         12  the people want to know, they want to know are the

         13  kids going to have clay on the softball fields this

         14  summer? Is there a way that we can improve our

         15  system to make sure they are going to have clay on

         16  the softball fields?

         17                 We also want to make sure that the

         18  companies that provide clay are actually paid right

         19  around the time they provide the clay, not eight

         20  months later. And those are the kinds of issues that

         21  are important.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Except I also

         23  think it is probably important to get a good deal,

         24  and as I said before, it is reasonable to assume

         25  that they will need clay for a year so that you
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          2  don't break it down into like 12 or 13 different

          3  contracts, but that you can do one overall contract

          4  ahead of time and do that in the regular procedure.

          5                 Unfortunately, and you know, we are

          6  going to disagree on this, but this is why we always

          7  come to a head on this, all I am saying is, my

          8  problem with increasing this is if you are going to

          9  do it, what will kick these up when something like

         10  this happens. And I really believe that, I am not

         11  against streamlining the process, my problem is

         12  artificially dividing contracts. And I believe --

         13                 MR. MILLMAN: In order to meet the

         14  small purchase limits.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I am sorry, I am

         16  looking at this thing for ten contracts, exactly

         17  $25,000 each, I think that the question certainly

         18  arises. You know, you can look at the glass always

         19  half full or half empty, but I am not saying I don't

         20  want to stop changing the limits, all I want to do

         21  is have something that would kicks out, that would

         22  kick this out, at the appropriate time to have

         23  somebody look at it.

         24                 MR. MILLMAN: And you can do that. The

         25  runs that the Comptroller's Office did are very easy
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          2  to do. At any time you could do a run on an agency

          3  to see all of their purchases at a certain level.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Can we devise a

          5  system that would automatically kick it out, you

          6  don't even have to do a run? Why not red flag it one

          7  way or another?

          8                 MR. MILLMAN: I don't know, but I

          9  suspect that is something that could be designed in

         10  the current computer systems.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, then I had

         12  one other quick question on this. Oh, I am sorry,

         13  let me just ask one quick question and then I will

         14  turn it over.

         15                 The questions that came to mind for

         16  me is how much oversight, since these contracts

         17  don't have a lot of oversight, as for the reasons we

         18  have already gone through --

         19                 MR. MILLMAN: I don't think that is

         20  actually correct. I think that the Comptroller's

         21  Office did indicate when they were testifying that

         22  the contracts, I think they said small purchases are

         23  not registered, however it is the small purchases

         24  below $10,000 that are not registered.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, what I am
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          2  curious about is, for instance, like in organized

          3  crime question, and just looking at City Hall Park

          4  where I know that the Mayor had several problems

          5  with some of the concrete manufacturers, and I am

          6  wondering what the likelihood, if somebody came in

          7  and did the division there, what would be the

          8  likelihood of it ever even coming up on someone's

          9  radar screen?

         10                 MR. MILLMAN: Well, that contract of

         11  course was not, that being a $20 million contract I

         12  think it was, was not a small purchase. We didn't

         13  try and artificially divide that one into many --

         14  that was one large construction management contract,

         15  and I think what you are referring to is something

         16  called a supplier. There are cement suppliers, and

         17  it I guess has been suggested that some suppliers in

         18  the concrete area are connected to organized crime.

         19                 I don't think that any of the issues

         20  that we are looking at with respect to the small

         21  purchase rule bear on that in any way.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Council Member

         23  Fiala.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: This has been

         25  very helpful for me to have this hearing, and let me
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          2  say this, I am not a litigator, I am not a lawyer, I

          3  tend to think that we bureaucrats are our own worst

          4  enemy, and for two years nothing externally has been

          5  done on this. I will give you my observations from

          6  both your testimony and the Deputy Comptroller's

          7  testimony. First of all, I happen to agree that

          8  there are real issues, and those issues have nothing

          9  to do with us, they have to do with the people who,

         10  as you say, there are real cash flow implications,

         11  you know? We haven't done anything for them.

         12                 I would not agree that the audits are

         13  useless. I agree that the methodology is flawed, if

         14  that methodology were tied to what we were supposed

         15  to be talking about today.

         16                 So, it is useless for the title of

         17  the hearing, but it is useful, I am not a litigator,

         18  I am being a juror, and I am coming to the

         19  conclusion that there is reasonable doubt, and the

         20  reasonable doubt is audits are being used to confirm

         21  something and the audits methodology are flawed. I

         22  accept that, but those audits were very helpful to

         23  me today because what was stated was, and I don't

         24  want to get into this issue of splitting, but what

         25  was stated was most of the splitting found in the
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          2  audit were goods, not services. So, if that is the

          3  case, despite these audits being flawed, and two

          4  years with very little to show for it. I think it is

          5  time that we say, if services were the issue and

          6  that is a subject that should be debated based on

          7  the merits of the audits, goods were the issue, Reso

          8  58, your own board has said to leave services --

          9  goods alone, is that correct? So I get these numbers

         10  right, goods remain where they are, you said

         11  services get doubled to 50,000 and construction goes

         12  to 100,000. I can tell you on the Council level that

         13  $100,000 is just the opening for construction. I

         14  have projects held up left and right in my district.

         15  I am term limited, I won't see these projects come

         16  to fruition because of these damn rules. So, I don't

         17  see the harm in doing this.

         18                 I do suggest for the record, that if

         19  the PPB, which is comprised of the Mayor and

         20  Comptroller, and the Comptroller's Office itself

         21  says we have no objections to Reso 58, well then

         22  let's pass the damn thing already. Let's pass it.

         23  Enough improvement has been made since the last

         24  change, and correct me, I want to be corrected if I

         25  am wrong, it was in 1997 did you say? We have seen
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          2  improvements in the procurement policy system in the

          3  City after that change, so common sense dictates

          4  that perhaps there are more improvements to be made

          5  if we make this incremental move, and that is how I

          6  see it. I am not sure where I stand on the Charter

          7  proposal, but if there is something before us that

          8  will move us toward improving the conditions, I

          9  think we should do it, and I would like the record

         10  to reflect that I would like to see this body,

         11  because we seem to be the obstacle now, I am the

         12  obstacle, I would like to see us take it up once and

         13  for all. Let it live or let it die on the merits.

         14                 And finally, I make one final

         15  observation, or one question because there is

         16  reasonable doubt that I have, we talk so much about

         17  small business owners and I represent them on Staten

         18  Island, they make up my town and they're suffering

         19  and they are dying on a daily basis, we talk a lot

         20  about minority and women-owned businesses, I guess I

         21  was enlightened today because based on your

         22  testimony and the Comptroller's Office testimony,

         23  explain to me what this means: If we were to

         24  increase the small purchase cap, not along the lines

         25  of 100,000 but let's stick with Reso 58, how are
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          2  minority women and small business owners going to

          3  benefit from this? They are going to -- someone used

          4  the term the pool is expanded, they are going to

          5  have access that they wouldn't have otherwise? Can

          6  you explain that, because I don't see it. I didn't

          7  see it before this. If that is the case that only

          8  strengthens the case for Reso 58.

          9                 MR. MILLMAN: There are two separate

         10  ways, and Michael, jump in if you would like, but

         11  the first way is very direct which is the Bid-Match

         12  system.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: What is it

         14  called?

         15                 MR. MILLMAN: Bid-Match. B-i-d -

         16  M-a-t-c-h.

         17                 The way that Bid-Match works is when

         18  someone does a small purchase, procurement

         19  professional in the city processes a small p

         20  purchase, they are required under the Bid-Match

         21  system to let the Department of Business Services

         22  know about the purchase and then the Department of

         23  Business Services let's people who have enrolled in

         24  the Bid-Match system, they let them know about the

         25  purchase, about the bid, and so those companies that
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          2  are enrolled can also bid. And generally those are

          3  women and minority-owned businesses, small

          4  businesses.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: I don't mean to

          6  cut you off.

          7                 So, if I am the ACCO for the Parks

          8  Department, under these rules -- I guess when I

          9  initially took up this issue I misunderstood the

         10  whole thing. I thought it was giving me flexibility

         11  to go out and decide who gets a contract. I heard

         12  today five, I have to get five bids?

         13                 MR. MILLMAN: You have to solicit

         14  five, yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: And with those

         16  five it would then go to this Bid-Match and the pool

         17  would be increased then, right? So if I didn't pick

         18  a sufficient number of small businesses or minority

         19  or women-owned businesses, they have access to bid

         20  on my request; is that accurate?

         21                 MR. MILLMAN: That's right.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIALA: All right.

         23                 MR. MILLMAN: That is the first way,

         24  is the Bid-Match system.

         25                 The second way is that responding to
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          2  any competitive sealed bid or competitive sealed

          3  proposals is currently very complicated. Quite

          4  frankly, it is not something I think I would know

          5  how to do, despite the fact that I have seen an

          6  awful lot of them.

          7                 They are incredibly paper intensive;

          8  whereas, responding to a small purchase is very

          9  easy, basically you could literally get a phone

         10  call, if you want to bid on something and you

         11  indicate what your bid is and there you go. In other

         12  words, it's like normal bidding. And therefore, that

         13  kind of process is very business friendly and the

         14  kinds of companies that don't ordinarily do business

         15  with the city, that aren't used to our system can be

         16  lured in, if you will, into doing business with us,

         17  through this more informal and simplified approach,

         18  and hopefully they will get used to doing business

         19  with us and then as they grow maybe they will get

         20  interested in responding to the much larger

         21  competitive sealed bids or competitive sealed

         22  proposals, and then they will be added to our pool

         23  of entities that we do business with.

         24                 MR. STOLLER: Can I just add to that,

         25  Council member?
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          2                 This is not just our opinion. The

          3  General Contractors Association, Frank McArdle, who

          4  is the Managing Director, in a letter to the chair

          5  says, and I am quoting, "Small contractors with

          6  limited staffs are often confronted with the same

          7  paperwork burdens that accompany multi-million

          8  dollar projects. City agencies find it difficult to

          9  execute small projects on a timely basis because the

         10  paperwork burdens for a small contract can be just

         11  as substantial for a large project.

         12                 Larger projects often get priority

         13  because the agencies can get closer to their

         14  contracting targets through the execution of large

         15  project contracts. So, both the agency's needs and

         16  the small contractors suffer.

         17                 The GSA supports a raise across the

         18  board to $100,000, and Reso 58 only is an interim

         19  step." They are exactly in sync with what Claude

         20  said in response to your question. They are trying

         21  to protect the small contractors.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, so I guess

         23  my last question is, if we pass Reso 58, what is the

         24  likelihood that the same kind of divisions that we

         25  have seen in the past will not happen? And what is
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          2  going to prevent that?

          3                 MR. MILLMAN: What kind of divisions

          4  are you talking about?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Those artificial

          6  ones.

          7                 MR. MILLMAN: Oh.

          8                 Well, first of all, as I said before

          9  I don't know -- certainly this does not tell me that

         10  there is any artificial divisions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Sue me.

         12                 MR. MILLMAN: I would think that if

         13  there are any, I would think that it is less likely

         14  that they would occur because if it is true, as

         15  Roger Liwer was indicating, if it is true that every

         16  once in awhile there is a screw-up, and usually on a

         17  small matter, and someone has got to find a way of

         18  solving the problem, then we will capture far more

         19  of those if the small purchase limits are higher.

         20                 In fact, if the limits were --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: How does that

         22  happen?

         23                 MR. MILLMAN: I am sorry?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: How will we

         25  capture more of them?
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          2                 MR. MILLMAN: We will capture more of

          3  the screw-ups -- let's imagine right now that every

          4  once in awhile someone forgets to renew the clay

          5  contract and therefore an agency has to get clay

          6  very quickly in order to make sure that the kids

          7  play softball during the summer.

          8                 And when faced with the fact that

          9  they need to get clay, the agency decides ut-oh, we

         10  have got to do something so we will just

         11  artificially divide the purchases in order to meet

         12  the small purchase limits and this way we will be

         13  able to get the clay on time.

         14                 If that is what happens, then that

         15  kind of -- let's say that happens 50 times a year,

         16  and in 45 of the cases it happens where the total

         17  purchase involved is below $100,000. Well, if the

         18  limit is $100,000 then the gaming now is only going

         19  to occur in the five instances where there is still

         20  a need for it. And I suspect that actually $100,000

         21  covers the vast majority of the kinds of, if not

         22  all, of the kinds of situations where you run into a

         23  problem. And you wouldn't really get that much from

         24  a small purchase, you wouldn't get that much by

         25  doing multiple purchases above $100,000, because as
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          2  soon as you go above $100,000, the vendor suddenly

          3  has to file VENDEX for $100,000 and you have to have

          4  a public hearing.

          5                 So, $100,000 is the number we use

          6  throughout the contracting system, it is the VENDEX

          7  number, the public hearing number, it's the federal

          8  number, it makes sense to have it go across the

          9  board. Of course that is not the question on reso

         10  58, but reso 58 brings you closer to that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, let's try

         12  the glass half empty part. What if you do have

         13  somebody whose brother-in-law happens to be in

         14  autobody and work in repairs and they basically want

         15  to throw them business? And they keep throwing them

         16  business because it comes under the, particularly

         17  under the small purchase limits.

         18                 MR. MILLMAN: Corruption can happen in

         19  every aspect of our procurement system. It can

         20  happen on a $50 million job, it can happen on a

         21  $1,000 purchase. There is really no way to prohibit

         22  corruption through the rules, other than to say you

         23  can't -- I mean, obviously that is corrupt and it is

         24  illegal, regardless of what the rules say about the

         25  small purchase limits.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            89

          1  COMMITTEE ON CONTRACTS

          2                 The best way to deal with that is to

          3  vigorously enforce the rules, not the rules but

          4  looking for corruption. So, for example, what you

          5  would want to do is check out the contractors

          6  through a centralized mechanism, find out as much

          7  about them --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Well, my question

          9  is, again what would bring this up on someone's

         10  radar screen?

         11                 MR. STOLLER: Madam Chair, there is

         12  also a fabulous book, I think you may have told me

         13  about this book actually, called the Pursuit of

         14  Absolute Integrity by a professor whose name escapes

         15  me. No one wants people breaking the rules, but

         16  there is a point where it is going to happen and we

         17  can't write a rule -- we can reduce the small

         18  purchase limit down to a dollar, we could eliminate

         19  it, but you raise your eyebrows because you know

         20  that is absurd.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I am not

         22  disagreeing with you, all I am saying -- even if

         23  saying that we go with Reso 58 tomorrow, I am just

         24  saying I would like to see some mechanisms in there

         25  that would red flag some of these divisions.
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          2                 MR. STOLLER: Well, as Claude said, a

          3  lot of those divisions --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And that there be

          5  some sort of -- what I feel about corruption is what

          6  really deters corruption is knowledge that there

          7  will be consistent oversight, or that there will be

          8  a penalty if you get caught and the likelihood of

          9  being caught.

         10                 That probably does more to deter

         11  corruption than anything else, and we can write

         12  rules from tomorrow to the next millennium after

         13  this one and it won't solve the problem. So, all I

         14  am saying is give me a mechanism that if this

         15  happens this would be red flagged.

         16                 MR. STOLLER: Let me respond, and

         17  Claude, you may want to jump in.

         18                 This is not going to be the exact

         19  response you want.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I didn't say I

         21  wanted a response.

         22                 MR. STOLLER: Oh, you don't want a

         23  response? Then thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I would like a

         25  response, I don't want any particular response.
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          2                 MR. STOLLER: Okay, well the shot I

          3  can best give is this: If we are going to spend our

          4  resources, the Council, the Administration, PPB and

          5  the Comptroller, on overseeing different aspects of

          6  the procurement process, frankly, having the

          7  responsibility for writing a lot of these rules,

          8  this isn't the one I would pick.

          9                 The reason I think we are here is

         10  because this is the only one the Charter gives us

         11  concurrent authority over, but it gives you a lot

         12  more oversight authority, it gives you oversight

         13  authority about much more than just this rule, but I

         14  think we are here --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: We have actually

         16  looked at other rules --

         17                 MR. STOLLER: Yes, not to say no. I am

         18  saying that is where we might want to look. I mean,

         19  Claude invited the Comptroller's Office to do audits

         20  on prompt payment, I would love to get some help on

         21  getting --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: You don't mind if

         23  I take a little credit for that, because it was this

         24  Committee that started with prompt payments --

         25                 MR. STOLLER: Take it. Take it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: And trying to pull

          3  that out, just like we pulled out some of the

          4  emergency contracts.

          5                 MR. STOLLER: Point well taken. I

          6  think there is plenty of credit to go around on this

          7  one. We collectively have done a lot of good work on

          8  getting the vendors paid more quickly. There is a

          9  new issue brought up by one of the board members,

         10  another twist on it that we are looking at now, we

         11  could use the help. And that might be where we want

         12  to put our energy.

         13                 The oversight for this particular

         14  rule, which is small dollars in the scheme of

         15  things, is kind of like auditing our lunch money as

         16  opposed to auditing the mortgage. We could have the

         17  Comptroller, if they wanted to, it is in their

         18  discretion, do a run every quarter, every six months

         19  and we could all look at it and go oh my God this is

         20  terrible, or oh my God this is great, and then

         21  Claude would talk to those people, and if they need

         22  retraining, you retrain them.  If they are horrible

         23  employees, you fire them, and if they are crooks,

         24  you arrest them, and that is the oversight. This is

         25  not the most compelling one in small purchase
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          2  corruption, procurement purchase possibilities, but

          3  the pay-off in efficiency is very high.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. Thank you.

          5                 Next we have Diane D'Alessandro from

          6  DC 37.

          7                 Okay, hi. If you would raise your

          8  right hand, please.

          9                 Do you swear to tell the truth, the

         10  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         11                 MS. D'ALESSANDRO: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, great. And

         13  then if you want to state your name for the record.

         14                 MS. D'ALESSANDRO: My name is Diane

         15  D'Alessandro, I am the Assistant Director of

         16  Research Negotiations in District Council 37 AFSCME.

         17                 On behalf of Administrator Lee

         18  Saunders, and the 125,000 members of District

         19  Council 37, I am here to express our views regarding

         20  increasing small purchase limits. And as you know,

         21  District Council 37 has previously testified in

         22  opposition to such increases and we will reiterate

         23  our opposition today.

         24                 The reason is simple, small purchase

         25  limits are routinely circumvented by the practice of
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          2  contract splitting.

          3                 As a result of this abuse, large

          4  contracts are inappropriately subjected to small

          5  purchase procedures which are far less stringent and

          6  less public than standard procurement requirements,

          7  and consequently these contracts are less

          8  competitive and more expensive and open to abuse.

          9                 Contract splitting which is

         10  prohibited by the Procurement Policy Board rules

         11  involves the artificial division of contracts in

         12  order to meet the small purchase requirements.

         13                 The practice generally involved the

         14  award of two or more contracts to the same vendor,

         15  often on the same day for the same or overlapping

         16  time period, for the same similar or related

         17  service, equipment or material priced at or slightly

         18  below the small purchase limit.

         19                 When combined, the total amount of

         20  these contracts exceeds the small purchase limit.

         21                 I was going to make a joke about the

         22  administrations position on contract splitting was

         23  really hair-splitting but sorry they left.

         24                 An examination of small purchase

         25  records pertaining to the integrated comprehensive
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          2  contract information systems for Fiscal Years 1997

          3  and '98, reveals a clear inconsistent pattern of

          4  abuse among numerous city agencies. And these

          5  records were submitted to the Committee on Contracts

          6  by DC 37 in a previous hearing.

          7                 This practice has also been

          8  documented by the City Comptroller in audits as

          9  noted.

         10                 Without appropriate safeguards,

         11  increases in the small purchase limits will only

         12  serve to raise the dollar amount of the contracts

         13  being split.

         14                 Accordingly we submit the following

         15  proposals for your consideration.

         16                 Centralizing small purchases within

         17  the Mayor's Office of Contracts with DCAS to ensure

         18  greater oversight and accountability.

         19                 Increasing the role of the

         20  Comptroller in the small purchase process. For

         21  example, registration of small purchases, annual

         22  auditing, et cetera.

         23                 Improving enforcement mechanisms,

         24  such as voiding purchases when violations occur and

         25  in instances of vendor bad faith, recovery of
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          2  payment, suspension or debarrment.

          3                 In closing, we urge the Council to

          4  oppose any increases until appropriate safeguards

          5  are adopted. This is particularly important in light

          6  of the recent Charter Revision Commission proposal

          7  to raise the limits absent any apparent

          8  consideration of current abuses.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: What is your

         11  position on Reso 58?

         12                 MS. D'ALESSANDRO: We are opposed.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: I think we kind of

         14  covered a lot of this, but I am trying to remember

         15  if you at one time said that you had also evidenced

         16  that, and correct me if I am inaccurate, that there

         17  were contracts that were basically registered as

         18  small purchases but yet were, even without splitting

         19  were substantially above the small purchase amount.

         20                 MS. D'ALESSANDRO: Well, when we did a

         21  review of the ISIS run, we did find numerous

         22  instances where, as we described, you know,

         23  contracts were divided and they were awarded on the

         24  same day and they appear to be for the same service,

         25  and if you look at them in the aggregate, they would
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          2  certainly exceed the small purchase limit.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay. Now, as I

          4  recall, I got a stack of things about like this, but

          5  to be quite honest there wasn't a heck of a lot I

          6  could do with that without lots and lots of spare

          7  time and lots and lots of spare time on the part of

          8  the investigations of the Council. Is there some way

          9  you can sort of condense that?

         10                 MS. D'ALESSANDRO: Well, actually we

         11  have pretty limited resources ourselves, but the

         12  Investigative Office of the Council did take that

         13  document for review, so I don't know what the

         14  outcome of that review was.

         15                 One possible approach would be to

         16  incorporate some information regarding small

         17  purchases perhaps in the ISIS summary report that

         18  the Comptroller does, which actually, as you know,

         19  is not required by local law, and frankly, at D.C.

         20  37 we are a little concerned about that because we

         21  have not seen a summary report since Fiscal '97, and

         22  as you know, that is really the only document that

         23  provides comprehensive information about contracting

         24  in New York City. So, along those lines we would

         25  love to see the ISIS law amended to require the
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          2  Comptroller to produce the summary in a timely

          3  manner with certain elements incorporated in it, and

          4  in particular perhaps detailed information

          5  pertaining to small purchase practices.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, great.

          7                 MS. D'ALESSANDRO: Okay, thanks a lot.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FREED: Okay, thank you.

          9                 We did have Jeff Elmer. Is he still

         10  here or did he leave us? Okay, we have written

         11  testimony from the General Contractors Association

         12  and we also have a letter, written testimony from

         13  Evangeline Vendor from Hudson Strategies, all on

         14  behalf of, in favor of raising the small purchase

         15  limit.

         16                 Okay, thank you very much. This

         17  hearing is closed.

         18                 (The following written testimony was

         19  read into the record.)

         20

         21  Testimony of:

         22  Francis X. McArdle

         23  Managing Director

         24  The General Contractors Association

         25  of New York City
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          2                 Dear Chairperson Freed:

          3                 The General Contractors Association

          4  of New York has long supported the reduction of the

          5  paperwork burdens in City contracting.

          6                 The development of effective small

          7  purchase procedures has been one tool to achieve

          8  that objective.

          9                 We have supported, in the past,

         10  increases in the threshold levels for small

         11  purchases, and I write to you today in support of

         12  further upward adjustments to these limits.

         13                 Small contractors, with limited

         14  staffs, are often confronted with the same paperwork

         15  burdens that accompany multi-million dollar

         16  projects. City agencies find it difficult to execute

         17  small projects on a timely basis because the

         18  paperwork burdens for a small contract can be just

         19  as substantial for a large projects; larger projects

         20  often get priority because the agencies can get

         21  closer to their contracting targets through the

         22  execution of large project contracts. So both the

         23  agencies' needs and the small contractors suffer.

         24                 Your committee, in recognition of

         25  these impacts, has made adjustment to the small
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          2  contracting limits in the past. It is time now to

          3  make another such adjustment.

          4                 The association supports an across

          5  the board level of $100,000 as the threshold for

          6  making the small contract determination.

          7                 We would urge you to adopt such a

          8  threshold for all City procurements. It will

          9  simplify the work of the agencies and offer more

         10  timely opportunities for small contractors to

         11  participate in City procurements.

         12                 If the Committee is unable to reach

         13  that judgment today, I would urge the Committee to

         14  vote its approval for Intro. 58, as an interim step.

         15                 Sincerely yours,

         16                 Francis X. McArdle.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 3:35 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 15th day of September 1999.
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         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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